

Lettings Policy

A guide to housing lettings in Haringey









This Lettings Policy sets out how council and housing association homes are let to people. If you would like a copy of this document in your own language, please tick the box, fill in your name and address, and send to the FREEPOST address below.

Shqip Linja e Veprimit mbi Qiratë përcakton se si u lëshohen me qira njerëzve shtëpitë e këshillit dhe të shoqatës së strehimit. Nëse e doni një kopje të këtij dokumenti në gjuhën tuaj, ju lutem shënjoni ✓ kutinë, plotësoni emrin dhe adresën tuaj dhe dërgojeni tek adresa e mëposhtme me POSTIM FALAS.	Kurdish Ev Polîtîqaya Kirêdayînê, îzah dike ka mal/xaniyên Belediyê û komelên xaniyan, çawa bi kirê tên dayîn. Heke ku hun qopyeke vê dokomanê bi zimanê xwe dixwazin, ji kerema xwe qutiyê îşaret bikin, nav û edresa xwe binivisînin û vê formê bişînin edresa li jêr. Pûl hewce nake.
اللغة العربية هذا المسند للإجار يغرض سياسة جمعية السكن والبلدية في كيفية تأجير سكن للناس. إذا كنت تود نسخة من هذه الوثيقة في لغتِك الخاصةِ، الرجاء منك أن تضع عالمة في المربع المناسب، ثم أكتب اسمك وعنوائك، وأرسلها إلى العنوان التالي على البريد المجني Freepost.	Português Essa Política de Locação estabelece como lares do concelho e de associações de habitação são alugados para pessoas. Se você gostaria de uma cópia desse documento em sua própria língua, por favor marque o quadradinho, preencha seu nome e endereço, e envie-o para o endereço postal gratuito (FREEPOST) abaixo.
কাউন্সিল-এর এবং হাউজিং অ্যাসোসিয়েশন-এর ঘরবাড়ি যেভাবে লোকজনকে ভাড়া দেওয়া হয়ে থাকে তার বিবরণ এই লেটিংস্ পলিসী বা ভাড়াদান-সংক্রান্ত নীতিমালায় বর্ণনা করা হয়েছে। এই দলিলের কপি আপনি যদি আপনার নিজের ভাষায় পেতে চান, তাহলে বাজে টিকু চিহ্ন দিন, আপনার নাম ও ঠিকানা লেখার জায়গা পূরণ করুন এবং নিচের ফ্রীপোস্ট বা বিনা ভাকখরচের ঠিকানায় পাঠিয়ে দিন।	Limba Română Acest document "Lettings Policy" descrie cum consiliul și casele asociațiilor de cazare sunt date cu chirie. Dacă doriți o copie a acestui document în limba dvs, vă rugăm bifați caseta, completați numele și adresa și trimiteți formularul la adresa de mai jos fără timbru poștal.
Français Cette "Politique de Location" (" Lettings Policy") présente la politique de location des logements municipaux et des associations de logement. Pour obtenir un exemplaire de ce document dans votre langue, cochez la case, écrivez votre nom et adresse et renvoyez le coupon à l'adresse ci-dessous (inutile de timbrer l'enveloppe).	Soomali Halkaan waxaa ku qoran siyaasada Kownsalka iyo Housing association ay u dajiyeen qaabab hadda ka dib dad guri loo siin doono. Hadaad rabto nuqul ku qoran luuqadaada, fadlan, sax mari sanduukha kuna soo dir ciwaanka hoose ee BOOSTA diristiisu bilaash tahay.
Ελληνικά	Türkçe Bu Lettings Policy (Kira Politikası) belediye ve iskan birliklerine ait evlerin nasıl kiralandığını göstermektedir. Bu dökümanın kendi dilinizde bir kopyasını istiyorsanız, lütfen kareyi işaretleyip ad ve adresinizi yazarak aşağıda verilen, posta ücreti gerektirmeyen adrese gönderiniz.
Please tell us if you would like a copy of this policy any of the following formats, and send the form to	
□ Large Print □ Disk □ Audi	io tape □Braille
	·
Name:	
Δddreee.	

Please return to: Freepost RLXS-XZGT-UGRJ, Haringey Council, Translation and Interpreting Services, River Park House, 225 High Road, London N22 8HQ

Postcode:

Ref.: Lettings Policy

Contents

	Page
Executive Summary	4
Introduction	5
Equalities	8
Discretionary Power	8
Chapter 1: Who can be considered for housing?	9
Chapter 2: Family and Children	11
Chapter 3: Property	14
Chapter 4: Care and Health	15
Chapter 5: Stable Communities	17
Chapter 6: How to apply for housing in Haringey	19
Chapter 7: Choice-The heart of the Lettings Process	21
Chapter 8: Other Housing Options	23
Chapter 9: Reviews and Complaints	24
Chapter 10: Applicants Rights	25

Executive Summary

- 1.0 Every council has to produce and publish a housing lettings policy ¹. This is Haringey's Lettings Policy. It shows:
- how to apply for housing in Haringey;
- how we decide who to let homes to:
- how we offer choice; and
- how we make offers of housing.
- 2.0 The policy reflects the legal requirements placed upon the council ² and in addition draws upon regulations and guidance and good practice. ³
- 3.0 The policy sets out how the Council works with the private sector and partners such as housing associations to address homelessness, overcrowding and the need to develop safe, diverse neighbourhoods. The Borough faces severe housing shortages.
- 4.0 The policy sets out how a points system is used to ensure fairness and openness in allocating homes and should be considered alongside new services such as Prevention and Options and the Reduction in Temporary Accommodation Strategy.
- 5.0 There is a high level of housing need locally. The policy sets out a number of limited but clear priorities. The number of people who will be directly housed by the Council will be limited to those with the most severe housing needs. Tackling overcrowding is a high priority. Applicants with low levels of need will be advised of other options they can consider.
- 6.0 Preventing homelessness, offering choice and increasing the range of ways to meet housing need means placing an emphasis upon applicants with the most severe housing needs. It requires a range of options to be available to other people.
- 7.0 The close working relationship with Social Services is reflected in the policy. It will ensure that older and vulnerable people have their needs addressed in a fair and consistent way.

_

¹ Section 167 Housing Act 1996 requires a scheme to be in place Section 168 Housing Act 1996 requires the scheme to be published

² Housing Act 1996 amended by the Homelessness Act 2002

³ The main guidance relating to Lettings is the Allocation of Accommodation: Code of Guidance 2002 This is supplemented by various Statutory Instruments (Regulations)

- 8.0 By 2010 Haringey will reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation by 50%. This policy is the key to achieving that target.
- 9.0 The policy reflects the commitment to create greater choice, through the introduction of Choice Based Lettings for most applicants. It responds to everyone in a fair, open and consistent way. The policy is backed up by procedures.
- 10.0 The Lettings Policy will be reviewed regularly including consideration of the way the policy assists the promotion of choice and mobility across the North London sub region.

Introduction

This document sets out Haringey Council's Lettings Scheme. It is the allocation scheme for determining priorities for the letting of Council homes and nominations to Registered Social Landlords. This policy fully complies with all legal requirements and reflects recent changes to the law arising from the Homelessness Act 2002 and various Statutory Instruments. It also reflects case law and has regard to the Code of Guidance on the Allocation of Accommodation issued by the Government in May 2002.

The Challenge facing Haringey

Haringey contains some of the most deprived wards in the Country. Almost 30% of Haringey's population live in areas that are amongst the 10% most deprived in the United Kingdom.⁴ The borough has relatively high levels of unemployment and a high level of inequality in health reflected in high levels of vulnerability such as mental health. 11.5% of households have incomes below £10,000⁵ leading to significant numbers of residents relying upon social housing. It is this level of deprivation when coupled to the ethnic and culturally diverse nature of the borough, and the implications of this for family income and household size that provides the background to this Lettings policy. The main challenge for the policy is how to address high levels of severe housing need in a fair and transparent way with homes being allocated to people with the greatest need. According to the Housing Needs Survey Update 2005 there is a shortfall of 4387 affordable homes.⁶ In 2004/5 the level of homeless applications was running at 145% of the total social housing lettings and of the applicants 90% were from Black and Minority Ethnic households. All the evidence points to a borough and a housing service under severe pressure. This Lettings Scheme helps implement the Council's commitment to:

- Prevent homelessness.
- Increase options for access to good housing for homeless people.
- Increase choice for residents in housing need.

-

⁴ Indices of Deprivation 2004, DCLG.

⁵ GLA CACI September 2005

⁶ Housing Needs Survey Update 2005

- Meet the needs of specific groups such as vulnerable and older people or BME residents.
- Establishing a fair and open way of allocating social housing.
- Meet its wider commitments to creating safe, diverse neighbourhoods.
- Reduce the number of people in temporary accommodation.

Homes for Haringey

Homes for Haringey are an arms length management Organisation (ALMO). They manage Council housing, which is owned by the Council, on behalf of the Council. They are the Managing Agent and their role is set out in a Management Agreement between the Council and the ALMO. The Council has strategic responsibility for preventing and tackling homelessness and for planning how the borough will meet its housing supply problems. It has to plan how housing needs of residents will be met. The Lettings Policy is an important policy that is the responsibility of the Council. However Homes for Haringey are required under the Management Agreement with the Council to undertake some functions relating to the letting of homes. The Council and Homes for Haringey are a key partnership for meeting the severed housing needs facing the borough.

Our Priorities

The policy has been developed in line with relevant legislation, guidance and good practice. The law says to whom we can and can't allocate housing. It allows Haringey to give reasonable preference to particular groups of people to whom housing can be allocated.⁷

The high levels of housing need locally mean that the policy focuses upon meeting the housing needs of:

1. People facing severe overcrowding

Addressing overcrowding locally is a top priority. According to the 2001 Census there are 20,455 households in Haringey who are suffering from overcrowding which equates to 22% of all households in the borough.⁸ More than 10% of households living in social housing are overcrowded with 4.4% severe overcrowded. Many living in the private sector also suffer with nearly 8% overcrowded.

2. People with Medical requirements

The policy considers people with medical needs a high priority. The aim is to make sure that disabled or chronically ill applicants, including those with children with disabilities, are able to obtain housing that allows them a good quality of living. In responding to the

-

⁷ Section 167 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002.

^{8 2001} Census

medical needs of applicants the Council seeks to balance such needs against other housing pressures.

3. Vulnerable People

Adults vulnerable due to mental health issues or learning disability are a further focus of the policy. Addressing the housing requirements of people with complex needs is a priority. This policy highlights the importance of ensuring that vulnerable and excluded groups are able to access Choice Based Lettings in accordance with good practice. Haringey has adopted the following definition of vulnerable adults¹⁰:

"A person over the age of 18 years who:

- Is or may be in need of community care services by reason of mental or other disability, age or illness and who
- Is or may be unable to take care of himself or herself
- Is or may be unable to protect himself or herself against significant harm or serious exploitation."

4. Older People

The Lettings Policy reflects the priority Haringey Older People's Service (OPS) gives to supported housing. The aim of OPS is to provide an individual social care, support, advice and advocacy service within a housing management context, relevant to the needs of older people from the full range of communities and cultures in Haringey. The objective of the supported housing service is to help older people to maintain their independence and live at home as long as practical. The wider challenge is to slow down deterioration and consequent loss of confidence and self esteem. The Lettings Policy complements the supported housing service and reflects the close working between housing services, housing providers, health and social services in addressing the needs of older people.

5. Domestic Violence

Haringey has an impressive track record in responding to Domestic Violence. The Lettings Policy reflects that commitment. The importance of responding to harassment in general and Domestic Violence, in particular, is reflected in the pointing scheme that complements the policy.

⁹ Pilot Based Lettings: An Evaluation, ODPM (2004)

¹⁰ Policy & Procedure for Protecting vulnerable Adults. LB Haringey (2002)

Equalities

Throughout its work, Haringey Council is committed to reflecting the full diversity of the community it serves and to promoting equality of opportunity for everyone. We accept that the Council is not free of unintended institutional discrimination. We will work to eradicate it. We aim to ensure equal access to our services by all citizens on the basis of need and to provide services in a manner that is sensitive to the individual whatever their background. We will represent the needs of our diverse communities to other agencies and make equal opportunities a key guiding principle in all our work with our partners. We will ensure that our workforce reflects the community it serves. We will take positive action to realise our equality of opportunity policy. We have a duty to eliminate discrimination on the grounds of age, disability, colour, ethnic origin, nationality, national origin or race, gender, HIV status, marital status, region or belief, responsibility for dependents, sexual orientation or unrelated criminal convictions.

Discretionary Powers

The Lettings Policy cannot cover every eventuality. In special cases with exceptional needs, the **Head of Housing Needs** has discretionary power to award additional priority and approve offers of housing taking into account all factors relevant to housing and social needs.

In the various sections of the policy, reference is made to the rules determining priority and eligibility for housing. In all these instances, subject to any legal constraints, discretionary powers may be used to deal with special cases which may need to be treated in an exceptional way.

The points scheme set out in the policy may be varied, as required, to reflect the meeting of priorities.

Chapter 1: Who can be considered for housing?

Any person may approach the Council and ask to join the Housing List.

The reality of the severe lack of social housing lettings is that only a very small number of people will be offered social rented housing.

Applicants eligible for housing are considered according to their level of housing need. Housing need is measured by a points system that reflects this Lettings policy.

All decisions made will be put in writing and provided to the applicant.

There are also two groups of people who are not eligible to apply for council housing. These are people:

- covered by immigration rules.
- guilty of unacceptable behaviour.

People covered by Immigration rules

Applicants from abroad who are subject to immigration control are ineligible for allocations. The Secretary of State has prescribed classes of people who are subject to immigration control but are nonetheless to be eligible for allocation.

The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Amendment) England Regulations 2004 set out that some people who have a right to enter a Country (Such as EU Citizens) may not be eligible for housing if they are not habitually resident or not here exercising EEA rights (e.g. right to work).

Unacceptable Behaviour

'Unacceptable behaviour' is behaviour that would be likely to result in the council gaining a possession order against you or your family, even if you are not actually Haringey Council tenants. Unacceptable behaviour includes:

- owing substantial rent arrears (to any Landlord);
- causing nuisance and annoyance to neighbours or visitors (anyone with an Anti-Social Behaviour Order);
- being convicted for using your home for illegal or immoral purposes (e.g. prostitution or drug dealing);
- committing an arrestable offence in or near your home;

- being violent towards your partner or family;
- allowing the condition of your home to deteriorate;
- getting your tenancy by deception (for example, by giving untrue information);
- paying money to illegally obtain a Haringey Council tenancy

Applications from Home Owners

Housing applications from home owners are considered. However the following factors will be taken into account:

- Whether an applicant can reasonably be expected to remain in accommodation taking.
 - into account medical, social and other needs.
- The equity available if the property were sold and whether this would provide sufficient funds for the owner to buy or rent alternative suitable accommodation.
- Income, savings and/or other investments.

The Council will assess whether sufficient funds are available to secure alternative suitable accommodation, taking into account the market value of the type of accommodation required.

Where there are medical problems, applications will be considered in the following circumstances:

- Where it is not possible to adapt the current accommodation to meet the needs of the owner-occupiers medical condition.
- Where it is too expensive to adapt the existing accommodation to meet the needs
 of the owner occupiers medical condition and they cannot afford to buy or rent
 suitable alternative housing.
- The sale of the property would not enable the owner occupier to purchase or rent an alternative property suitable to their needs.

Four Categories of Priority

The Council has to give priority to applicants who fall within categories of need defined by the law. The priorities reflect local needs and the legal requirement to give 'reasonable preference', 'additional preference' or 'local preference' to certain people who apply.

The Council has adopted four broad categories of housing need. The points system reflects these. Each is divided into priority areas.

The four categories of need, adopted by the policy allows clarity with respect to the different priority groups. Priority given to each group in the Points scheme reflects the legal and guidance requirements.

The four categories are:

- Families and Children.
- Property.
- Care and Health.
- Stable Communities.

Chapter 2: Families and Children

The Homeless.

Homeless households are a high priority for the Council. The Council primarily seeks to prevent homelessness.

It has adopted a Prevention and Options policy and has introduced a new service to prevent homelessness. The aim is to help homeless households find alternative housing.

If alternative options are not available and homelessness cannot be prevented then households may be eligible for a Council or housing association property subject to them having sufficient points. Homeless households will be allocated the following number of points:

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Homeless in Priority Need, not intentionally homeless.	To help households who have become homeless, are in Priority Need on to obtain settled accommodation. Section 193.	350
2	Homeless or threatened with homelessness, but not in Priority Need.	This allows the Council to offer help to households who are homeless, but do not have a Priority Need. This meets duties under Section 195(5)(a).	100
3	Homeless or threatened with homelessness in Priority Need, but intentional homelessness.	This allows the Council to offer help to households who are homeless, have a Priority Need but are intentionally homeless. This meets duties under Section 195(5)(b).	100

Prevention of Homelessness

Preventing homelessness is a key objective of the proposed new Lettings Policy. The points in this section help people to avoid homelessness by looking to other options.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Homeless at	To encourage people threatened with	150 + 4
	Home with 1	homelessness, in priority need, to stay in the	per
	child.	parental home and to be rewarded for doing so. (For every 6 months).	month
2	Homeless at	To encourage people threatened with	200 + 4
	Home with 2	homelessness, in priority need, to stay in the	per
	children.	parental home and to be rewarded for doing so. (For every 6 months).	month
3	Mediation.	Successful completion of mediation course. Points for staying in parental accommodation (For every 6 months).	100
4	Family	Points to reflect a need to move closer to other	50
	Support.	family members who will provide support.	
5	Foster	This will allow the role of carers and foster	100
	Carers/Kinship.	parents to be recognised.	

Assured Shorthold Tenancies

These points encourage applicants to remain in private sector property

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Retention of	To encourage households to remain in AST with	
	private sector	a private landlord. (This does not relate to ASTs	48 per
	AST.	secured by the Council for households in	annum =
		Priority Need).	4 per
			month

Living in Temporary accommodation

The Council wants to reduce the numbers of households in temporary accommodation. The points for residing in such accommodation aim to help households move on to permanent housing.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Moving out of	To help households move from temporary to	
	temporary	permanent accommodation.	48 per
	accommodation.		annum =
			4 per
			month

Violence and Harassment

Families or individuals facing violence or harassment (Including Domestic Violence) require a strong and high priority response from the Council.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Harassment/Violence (Urgent Move)	Where a person/household requires an urgent move because of severe violenceand/or harassment	200
2	Harassment/Violence (Desirable Move).	Where it is desirable to move a person/household because of violence and/or harassment.	100
3	Witness Protection.	A move in order to secure a witness's safety.	250

Children in Need

These points reflect the Council's duties to Children.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Children and Young People unable to leave hospital.	A household would receive points to reflect the unsuitable nature of the parental home.	400
2	Child Protection.	Where a parent and child should be moved due to the child being in need or where a child is placed on the Child Protection Register and a more suitable property will reduce risk to the child.	250

Relationship Breakdown

In general, where a relationship breakdown has occurred between couples and one or both partners is a council tenant, one or both partners will receive 50 points providing:

 Both partners have been living in the accommodation since the commencement of the tenancy (irrespective of whether both partners held a joint tenancy).

- There has been no violence or threat of violence.
- Under-occupation of the accommodation will not result from rehousing just one of the former partners.

Under this policy the term 'couples' refers to heterosexual, lesbian and gay relationships.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Relationship	To support people to find new accommodation	50
	Breakdown.	following the breakdown of a relationship.	

Chapter 3: Property

This section in the points scheme aims to address problems associated with a property.

Overcrowding

The draft scheme reflects the clear policy commitment to address overcrowding. The statutory definition is very limited. The Council uses the English Survey of Housing definition of overcrowding and this uses the lack of bedrooms

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	1 bedroom short.	To reflect level of overcrowding.	100
	2 bedrooms short.	To reflect level of overcrowding.	200
	3 bedrooms short.	To reflect level of overcrowding.	300
	4 bedrooms short.	To reflect level of overcrowding.	400
2	Shared bathroom.	To reflect sharing of facilities.	30
	Shared WC.	To reflect sharing of facilities.	20
	Shared Kitchen.	To reflect sharing of facilities.	30
	Shared Living room.	To reflect sharing of facilities.	20

Poor Quality Housing

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Insanitary Conditions.	To tackle accommodation that poses an ongoing threat to a person or households health. Examples include: Infected drinking water.	200

Insect or animal infestation.Being exposed to untreated	
sewerage.	

Under Occupation

These points encourage existing tenants to move to a smaller property. This should be considered alongside other incentives to move. The Council provides a range of financial incentives to encourage households to move to more suitable property.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Give up 1 room.	To encourage tenants to move to smaller	800
		properties.	
2	Give up 2	To encourage tenants to move to smaller	850
	rooms.	properties.	
3	Give up 3	To encourage tenants to move to smaller	900
	rooms.	properties.	

Under occupation points are only applied where the applicant is a Council tenant.

Chapter 4: Care and Health

Vulnerable People

These points reflect the Council's duties to vulnerable adults and complement the medical points scheme.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Mental Health with Support.	To help households with mental health challenges obtain housing subject to them being supported in such accommodation.	150
2	Drug & Alcohol challenges.	To help households where a person with drug or alcohol challenges undertakes and completes course of rehabilitation.	150
3	Learning Disability.	To help people with Learning Disability, who reside with parents to have own tenancy with support.	150
4	Complex Needs.	To support people aged 55 and over who have complex needs and need specialist accommodation e.g. Disability, declining health, severe mobility or mental	150

	deterioration.	

Medical

The Council gives medical points to reflect how unsuitable an applicants current accommodation is. If there are medical problems, but the property is suitable for their medical needs, no points will be given.

Composite Test

When considering the medical needs of a person the impact on the whole household will be considered.

No	Category	Aim	Points
	1	To address exceptional, urgent and/or life threatening situations that would be	300
		addressed by an urgent move to a different property.	

Category 1: A category 1 may be granted to people who have an urgent need to move for medical reasons. This might include a terminally ill person who needs larger accommodation for a carer to reside with them, or someone whose life may be at risk as a result of the property they live in.

No	Category	Aim	Points
		Where a different property would address	150
	2.	health, mobility and disability problems	
		facing a household.	

Category 2: This covers people with health, mobility or disability needs who require a home with improved access to facilities or mobility. This covers people whose home is not suitable because they have medical, mobility or disability needs and their existing home is not accessible or near to medical or family support.

Disability Facilities Grant

Adapting homes so that disabled or residents with mobility problems can reside in them is important. The Council may use the Disability Facilities Grant to fund such activity. However where the cost of adaptations is above £25,000 for a property then the applicant will be considered for a transfer with Category 2 medical points being awarded.

No	Category	Aim	Points
	3.	Medical condition is not substantially effected by housing condition.	50

Category 3: This relates to people who have long term medical needs that will require them to move from their existing property. Customers with medical conditions such as arthritis, loss of mobility in limbs etc. They may require a ground floor property but currently reside in a house with stairs or a flat

Chapter 5: Stable Communities

Local Connection

The Council is committed to developing stable inclusive communities. The Lettings policy has a key role is achieving this strategic aim. An appropriate level of priority is given to applicants that can demonstrate a local connection. A local connection is considered as an applicant:

- Who has lived in the Borough for at least 2 years immediately preceding their application to the Housing Register.

Haringey placements in Temporary Accommodation

Where applicants are placed in Temporary Accommodation, by Haringey, outside the borough, they will be awarded points, as long as they fulfil the residential qualification.

Temporary Accommodation Placements from other Councils in Haringey.

No Local Connection points will be given to the following:

- Those placed in Haringey in temporary accommodation by another Council.
- Those placed in residential accommodation by another Council.
- Secure tenants of another Council unless reciprocal arrangements have been agreed.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Local Connection.	To reflect the importance of stable inclusive communities.	75

Time on the Waiting List

The Council also provides an annual uplift to recognise time on the Housing Register.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Time on Housing	To provide an annual uplift.	24 points
	Register.		per year

Management Transfers

Management Transfers are used to address problems of emergency and special housing problems. Full details of the Councils Management Transfer scheme are set out in the procedures that underpin this policy.

In exceptional cases the Management Transfer Panel can award 800 points and authorise a direct let in order to facilitate an urgent move.

Decants and Major Works

Where an estate or property requires improvement work to bring it up to the Decent Homes or other appropriate standard points will be awarded to reflect the degree of impact on the tenant's life. These will help the person move if they wish to do so.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Decant.	To help a tenant move where work cannot be done without a move.	800
2	Major Works.	To help the tenant move where they are concerned at the impact of major works on their home.	50

Independent Living

The following points recognise that groups of people need stable settled accommodation.

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Care Leavers.	To ensure accommodation with support.	200
2	Ex Offenders	To ensure people leaving prison are able to	150

		access stable accommodation.	
3	Nomination from independent housing scheme.	To support a vulnerable person moving from supported housing to greater independence with 'own' tenancy.	150
4	16 & 17 Year olds.	To provide secure housing at age 18.	100

Teenage Parents

The borough has a high level of teenage pregnancies. The support and options to help young parents are set out in the Council's 'Teenage Pregnancy and Parenthood Strategy'. It places a strong emphasis upon semi independent housing options where the young person cannot remain with parents. The support comes from Supporting People (A funding scheme)

Other Categories

No	Category	Aim	Points
1	Move on Quota.	To help people move from temporary hostel based accommodation to long term housing.	150
2	Shared Hostel Move on.	To help people move from a temporary hostel containing shared facilities to long term housing.	200
3	Service Tenants	To take account of a service tenancy that is coming to an end	300
4	Special Circumstances	This will allow points to go to a person who does not qualify under any other category	200
5	Leaving Supported Housing Projects	To help people move from Supported Living Projects to independent living.	300

Chapter 6: How to apply for housing in Haringey

To apply for housing requires an applicant to complete a relevant application form. These vary according to the tenancy or housing position the applicant is in:

Table 1: Application Forms for Housing in Haringey

Applicant	Form	Where available
Homes for Haringey	Transfer Form.	Homes for Haringey Local Offices
Tenant.		www.homesforharingey.org

		www.haringey.gov.uk
Housing Association Tenant.	Housing Application Form.	Tenants of housing associations need to approach their own landlord.
Other Applicants.	Housing Application Form.	Homes for Haringey Local Offices www.homesforharingey.org www.haringey.gov.uk Prevention and Options Service, Wood Green Customer Service Centre.

Help for Applicants completing Application forms

It is the policy of Haringey Council to help people with the completion of Application forms where they have; Language needs, Literacy needs, Other Health and care needs, where the applicant has a caseworker.

Data protection

The Data Protection Act 1998 (the Act) is designed to protect personal data about living individuals (Data Subjects). The Act also places obligations on those organisations that process personal data (Data Controllers). As a Data Controller, Haringey Council is committed to complying with this legislation by applying the Principles of Good information handling across all its services.

Tenancy Audit Scheme (TAS)

It is the requirement of Haringey Council, as part of its wider challenge to stop fraud to photograph all applicants and to keep a record for identification purposes.

Information Check

All applications must be supported with relevant documents. All supporting documents, as far as possible, must be originals. Without this information Haringey cannot process an application. The Council reserves the right to make enquiries into your application.

Chapter 7: Choice- The heart of the Lettings Policy

Our Commitment to you

People applying for housing should be able to choose where they live. This Lettings policy gives priority to people with the greatest housing need, but also places choice at the heart of the way we work. The Council has moved to a Choice Based Lettings scheme for most lettings.

Home Connections

Haringey is part of the Home Connections scheme. This is the North London choice based lettings scheme. When properties become available, they are advertised widely and applicants are invited to bid. The system allows applicants to bid for properties which they would like to be offered. Applicants on the Housing Register and existing tenants can bid for property. People can bid for as many properties as they like.

A nomination agreement is in place between the council and its housing association partners to ensure the best use of available homes via the Home Connections framework.

Exceptional Circumstances

All allocations of permanent housing stock will be made this way, except in exceptional circumstances. These could include:

Emergency moves

The Home Connections Scheme takes time to operate and sometimes the situation is urgent. Direct offers may be made, for example, where there are child or public protection issues, where significant repair or structural work is required (which can't be carried out while the property is occupied), where there is serious harassment or violence or where the police ask for assistance under the National Witness Mobility Scheme.

Conversion of council owned stock used as temporary accommodation

- A homeless person who has been placed in council owned temporary accommodation may at the council's discretion later be made a direct offer of a secure tenancy of this accommodation.
- If it may be costly to the Council if an applicant is not moved.
- Where homes are significantly adapted for use by vulnerable persons or with a disability.
- Where properties are designated for use by the Older Persons Service.

- Where a property is difficult to let.
- Allocations to temporary accommodation.
- Allocations to any homes which the council requires for specific purposes.
- In any interim period where either the Council is in organisational change.
- Where Choice Based Lettings (CBL) may lead to detriment being suffered by any groups(s)/persons.

Fraud

Applicants will be closely checked, and evidence requested, by the Council before an offer is agreed. This means all relevant supporting documents and information supplied will be checked and appropriate home visits made. We will make sure you are legally entitled to housing. Where evidence is not provided the offer of housing will be withdrawn. If evidence of false information or any related fraud becomes known after the applicant has moved in or the transfer taken place, the Council will recover the property through the Courts and consider prosecution.

Declaration on Fraud

The law (11) very clearly states that it is an offence to make false statements, withhold information, or fail to disclose any change in circumstances. Haringey will take appropriate action if fraud is suspected.

What if I refuse the offer?

Applicants made offers under Home Connections are not expected to refuse the offer, as they have asked to be considered for the property. All applicants included in the scheme will be provided with information to ensure they understand the scheme and the requirement for them to be pro-active. If a property is requested and the applicant later discovers that there is someone living locally that is a threat to them or their household, they may refuse the property within 24 hours of signing the tenancy.

Please note that refusing a suitable offer may lead to the Council discharging any legal obligation it has to re-house an applicant.

⁽¹¹⁾ Section 214 of the Housing Act 1996

Chapter 8: Other Housing Options

Prevention and Options Service

This Lettings Policy has clearly set out a number of priorities.

For applicants who are threatened with homelessness or suffer from lower levels of need the Council has introduced the Prevention and Options service. This service advises residents on all available housing options as well as working hard to prevent homelessness through schemes such as:

- Homeless at Home and mediation.
- Helping secure private sector lettings.
- Helping secure home improvements to allow people to remain in residence.

The amount of social housing available each year is extremely limited. The Council has developed its Prevention and Options service to advise applicants on the Housing Register, or people in danger of homelessness, of alternative options. This section describes some alternative ways of existing council and housing association tenants, and in some cases those on the housing register securing accommodation. People's needs and circumstances are considered before an offer is made.

Table 2: Mobility Scheme options

Mobility Option	Description		
Homeswap Scheme	HOMESWAP (Housing Organisation Mobility and Exchange Services) is a national scheme. It allows councils and housing associations to put people forward for each other's housing.		
Seaside and Country Homes	The Seaside and Country Homes scheme allows council tenants and housing association tenants, aged 60 or over, to give up their council properties and move to the coast or countryside.		
Anchor Trust Retirement Homes	The Anchor Trust is a housing association that provides sheltered housing in many parts of the country. This is accommodation for older people, with the services of a warden if needed.		
Moving out of London	Moving out of London may be an option. Some towns and cities have social and affordable housing to rent or buy. You can apply to move out of London if you are:		
	Haringey Council tenant. Haringey begins appoint to part.		
	Haringey housing association tenant.Homeless household living in temporary		

	 accommodation provided by Haringey Council. Homeless household accepted as 'homeless at home'. Household registered for housing.
--	--

Chapter 9: Reviews and Complaints

All a applicants have a right to appeal under the Housing Act 1996 (12). This means that they have:

- a) The right of review of any decision not to give a preference under the policy.
- b) The right, on request, to be informed of any decision about the facts of an applicants case which has been, or is likely to be, taken into account in considering whether to make an allocation.
- c) The right to a review or request any decision to treat an applicant as ineligible for any reason.

Homeless applicants also have an additional right of review of the suitability of any offer under Section 202 of the Housing Act 1996. There are three other appeals against the offers of accommodation that are available where the applicant does not have a statutory review. These are:

- 1. Council Tenants.
- 2. Housing Register applicants that Haringey have not accepted a homelessness Duty.
- 3. Homeless applicants who applied before 1st April 1997.

Complaints

For applicants concerned at the quality of the service they received the opportunity to make a complaint exists. Haringey operates a three-stage procedure for dealing with complaints:

Stage 1 Local Resolution.

When we receive your complaint, we will try to sort out the problem straight away. If we can't, we will write to you within 2 working days to let you know who is dealing with your complaint. We reply in writing to you within 15 working days.

Stage 2 Service Investigation

If you are unhappy with our Stage 1 reply, you are entitled to have your complaint considered by a senior manager in the relevant service. You should contact the Directorate complaints officer to explain why you are unhappy with the Stage 1 response.

Stage 3 Independent Review

If you are unhappy with our stage 2 reply, the Central Feedback Team (formerly Corporate Complaints' Team) can conduct an investigation. The Central Feedback Team is independent of the service departments and will carry out an impartial investigation of your complaint on behalf of the Chief Executive.

(12) Section 167(4a) (b or Section 160A (9) of the Housing Act 1996.

Chapter 10: Applicants Rights

Applicants for housing are entitled to:

- Free advice and information about making a housing application.
- Help with their application if they require it.
- Have their application considered by us
- Have their application kept confidential.
- Ask for information to help them to judge their chances of being offered accommodation including whether appropriate accommodation is likely to become available and how long they might have to wait.
- Be informed of any decision made and the facts of the case.
- Receive in writing the Council decision not to consider a person for housing because of unacceptable behaviour by them and the reasons for the decision.